
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  ) 

      ) 

   Plaintiff,  ) 

      ) 

 v.     ) Cause No. 4:06-CR-337-CEJ (MLM) 

      ) 

DAVID CARRUTHERS, et al.,  ) 

      ) 

   Defendant.  ) 

____________________________________) 

 

DEFENDANT DAVID CARRUTHERS' MEMORANDUM OF LAW  

IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS COUNT I – RICO  

CONSPIRACY, OR PARTS THEREOF 

 

 COMES NOW, Defendant David Carruthers, by and through his undersigned 

counsel and pursuant to Rule 12 (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, 

moves this Court to dismiss Count I of the Indictment.  In support thereof, Defendant 

states the following: 

I. THE RICO CONSPIRACY CHARGE SHOULD BE DISMISSED. 

 A. Overview of Rico 

 The Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act ("RICO"), 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1962 (c), makes it a crime for any person employed or associated with any enterprise 

engaged in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce, to conduct or 

participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise's affairs through a 

pattern of racketeering activity or collection of unlawful debt.  18 U.S.C. § 1962 (c); 

United States v. Bledsoe, 674 F.2d 659 (8
th

 Cir. 1982).  Although the original purpose 

behind RICO was to "curb the infiltration of legitimate business organizations by 

racketeers and thus thwart organized crime," RICO has been stretched well beyond 

Case 4:06-cr-00337-CEJ-MLM     Document 270     Filed 02/02/2007     Page 1 of 39




 2 

organized crime.  See Atlas Pile Driving Co. v. Dicon, 886 F.2d 986, 990 (8
th

 Cir. 

1989)(citing United States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 591 (1981)).   

 To secure a conviction under RICO, the government must prove both the 

existence of an enterprise and the connected pattern of racketeering activity.  Turkette, 

452 U.S. at 583.  Enterprise "includes any individual, partnership, corporation, 

association, or other legal entity, and any union or group of individuals associated in fact 

although not a legal entity."  18 U.S.C. § 1961 (4).  Racketeering activity, commonly 

referred to as predicate crimes, acts or offenses, is defined exhaustively and specifically 

in 18 U.S.C. § 1961 (1) and includes any act which is indictable under any certain 

enumerated provisions of federal or state law, including "any act involving . . . gambling" 

that is punishable by a term of imprisonment for more than one (1) year.  18 U.S.C. 

§ 1961 (1).   

B. The Enterprise must exist separate and apart from the pattern of 

activity in which it engages. 

 

 Section 1961 (4) defines "enterprise" to include any individual partnership, 

corporation, association or other legal entity, and any union or group of individuals 

associated in fact although not a legal entity.  Where the enterprise at issue is not a legal 

entity, but an "associated enterprise", i.e., a group associated in fact, it is not enough for 

the Government to simply establish a pattern of racketeering activity.  See United States 

v. Kragness, 830 F.2d 842, 854 (8
th

 Cir. 1987).  The existence of the enterprise at all 

times remains a separate element which must be proved by the government."  Id. at 854 

(citing Turkette, 452 U.S. at 583).   

 In United States v. Anderson, 626 F.2d 1358, 1372 (8
th

 Cir. 1980), the Eighth 

Circuit held that Congress intended that the phrase 'a group of individuals associated in 
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fact although not a legal entity,' as used in its definition of the term 'enterprise' in Section 

1961 (4), to encompass only an association having an ascertainable structure which exists 

for the purpose of maintaining operations directed toward an economic goal that has an 

existence that can be defined apart from the commission of the predicate acts constituting 

the "pattern of racketeering activity."  Thus, the Eighth Circuit held that an enterprise 

under RICO requires proof of a "discreet economic association existing separately from 

the racketeering activity."  Id.   

 A RICO enterprise must be established by three elements:  (1) a common or 

shared purpose that animates the individuals associated with it; (2) some continuity of 

structure and personnel, i.e., an ongoing organization with members who function as a 

continuing unit; and (3) an ascertainable structure distinct from the conduct of a 

pattern of racketeering.  See United States v. Lee, 374 F.3d 637, 647 (8
th

 Cir. 

2004)(citing Kragness, 830 F.2d at 855)) (emphasis added); accord Atlas Pile Driving 

Co., 886 F.2d at 995.  These characteristics are mandated in order to avoid the danger of 

guilt by association that arises because RICO does not require a proof of a single 

agreement as in a conspiracy case, and in order to assure that criminal enterprises which 

are RICO's target are distinguished from individuals who associated for the commission 

of sporadic crime.  Atlas Pile Driving Co., 886 F.2d at 996. 

 The term "enterprise" must signify an association that is substantially different 

from the acts which form the patter of racketeering activity.  A contrary interpretation 

would alter the essential elements of the offense as determined by Congress."  Bledsoe, 

674 F.2d at 664 (emphasis added).  Thus, the enterprise must be parsed out from the 

underlying alleged racketeering activity.  If it does not exist separate and apart from the 
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racketeering activity, then a RICO case has not been made.  See Turkette, 452 U.S. at 

583. 

 In the instant case, the issue is whether the Government has alleged an enterprise 

that is separate and distinct from the alleged pattern of racketeering activity.  The inquiry 

focuses on whether the enterprise encompasses more than what is necessary to commit 

the predicate offense.  United States v. Nabors, 45 F.3d 238, 241 (8
th

 Cir. 1995).  The 

Eighth Circuit has set forth this test:  in assessing whether an enterprise has an 

ascertainable structure distinct from the alleged pattern of racketeering, the court must 

determine if the enterprise would still exist were the predicate acts removed from the 

equation.  Handeen v. Lemaire, 112 F.3d 1339, 1352 (8
th

 Cir.1997).   

 Here, the Indictment alleges the "enterprise" is the Kaplan Gambling Enterprise, 

purportedly made up of a group of entities and individuals associated-in-fact.  (Indict., p. 

5).  The stated goal of the enterprise was "to make money for the enterprise, its 

employees, members, and associates" by offering and advertising unlawful betting or 

gambling services.  (Indict. ¶ 20).  The enterprise maintained operations to further this 

purpose by: 

(1) offering, facilitating, and conducting betting and gambling;  

(2) operating web sites and telephone services for betting and gambling; 

(3) creating and disseminating advertising to attract customers; and  

(4) evading payment of federal taxes. 

(Indict. ¶¶ 18-21). 

 The Indictment alleges the enterprise engaged in a pattern of racketeering 

offenses that falls into three general categories of offenses, identical to the enterprise's 
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methods for maintaining operations.  The following lists the general categories of the 

predicate offenses and those statutes, by number and title, which are cited as 

"racketeering activities" in the Indictment: 

(1) unlawfully offering, facilitating or conducting betting or gambling: 

(a) Mo. Rev. State. § 572.020 (Gambling) 

(b) Fla. Stat. § 849.25 (Bookmaking) 

(c) NY CLS Gen. Oblig. § 5-401 (Illegal wagers, bets, etc.) 

(d) Rev. Code Wash. § 9.46.220 (Professional gambling, 1
st
 Degree) 

(e) Rev. Code Wash. § 9.46.221 (Professional gambling, 2
nd

 Degree) 

(f) 720 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/28-1 (Gambling) 

(g) 18 U.S.C. § 1984 (Wire Wager Act) 

(h) 18 U.S.C. § 1952 (travel in aid of a racketeering enterprise) 

(i) 18 U.S.C. § 1953 (transportation of gambling paraphernalia) 

(2) promoting its web sites and telephone services for unlawful betting or 

gambling; 

 

(a) Mo. Rev. Stat. § 572.030 (promoting gambling) 

(b) NY CLS Penal § 225.10 (promoting gambling) 

(c) N.J. Stat. § 2C:37-2 (promoting gambling) 

(3) creating and disseminating fraudulent advertising; and 

(a) 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (mail fraud) 

(b) 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (wire fraud) 

(4) evading taxes 

(a) 18 U.S.C. § 1956 (money laundering) 

(Indict. 8-9).   
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 It is apparent that the four categories of offenses are one and the same as the four 

methods the enterprise allegedly used to maintain its operations.  If the four categories of 

predicate acts were removed from the equation, the four means of maintaining the 

enterprise's operations would also be eliminated. 

 Therefore, without the supposed racketeering activities, i.e., conducting, 

promoting, advertising and making money from gambling, the Kaplan Enterprise would 

have no remaining purpose or structure.  If the predicate acts were removed, the 

Enterprise would no longer exist.  Thus, a separate and distinct enterprise has not been 

established.  See Handeen, 112 F.3d at 1352.  As the Indictment fails to allege an 

enterprise that is separate and distinct, or substantially different from, the acts which form 

the pattern of racketeering activity, the Indictment is deficient and must be dismissed. 

C. The racketeering activity must constitute a pattern, and not be merely 

a string of predicate acts. 

 

 "Racketeering activities," also known as predicate acts, include acts indictable 

under specified federal statutes, or which comprise various state crimes.  18 U.S.C. 

§ 1961 (1).  To gain a conviction under RICO, the Government must also prove that the 

Defendant committed some of these specified acts of racketeering.  More specifically, 

RICO requires a pattern of racketeering activity.  18 U.S.C. § 1961 (5)(c) (emphasis 

added).  It is not the number of predicate acts that controls, but whether those acts form a 

pattern of racketeering activity. 

 The concept of a pattern is essential to the operation of the statute.  Criminal 

conduct forms a pattern if it "embraces criminal acts that have the same or similar 

purposes, results, participants, victims, or methods of commission or otherwise are 

interrelated by distinguishing characteristics and are not isolated events."  Holmberg v. 
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Morrisette, 800 F.2d 205, 210 (8
th

 Cir. 1986)(quoting Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., 473 

U.S. at 496 n. 14)). 

 Where all the predicate acts are committed in furtherance of a single scheme, 

there is not "sufficient continuity among the acts to meet the pattern requirement."  

Kragness, 830 F.2d at 858.  As the Eighth Circuit stated in Superior Oil v. Fulmer, 785 

F.2d at 257, "[i]t places a real strain on the language to speak of a simple fraudulent 

effort, implemented by several fraudulent acts, as a "pattern of activity." 

 In Superior Oil, the Eighth Circuit held that several related acts of mail and wire 

fraud as part of a single scheme to divert natural gas from Superior Oil's pipeline, did not 

amount to a pattern of racketeering.  Similarly, in Holmberg v. Morrisette, supra, the 

Eighth Circuit held that as a matter of law, Holmberg failed to prove the continuity 

necessary to form a "pattern" of racketeering, where defendants' acts comprised but one 

scheme to draw down three letters of credit securing transactions to specially produce 

goods for shipment to Nigeria, committed through various acts of mail and wire fraud.  

Thus, they were all related to a common purpose or scheme. 

 This is in contrast to the facts in Kragness, supra, where there were three separate 

schemes:  one, to import marijuana into La Junta, Colorado; another, to conduct a cocaine 

and Quaalude project; and a third, to import marijuana into the Phoenix area.  The 

schemes involved different drugs, different suppliers, different U.S. bases of operation, 

different customers and different operatives involved in some of the schemes but not 

others.  Under these circumstances, the Eighth Circuit held it had little difficulty 

concluding that the RICO pattern requirement was met. 
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 In the instant case, the enterprise was allegedly perpetrating one scheme and one 

scheme only – conducting a business of providing wagering services on the Internet.  To 

that end, it allegedly committed numerous "predicate" acts, or acts to facilitate its 

business activity.  As there is only one scheme, the Indictment fails to allege a "pattern" 

of racketeering activity under the statute.  See Superior Oil, 785 F.2d at 257 n.8 

(approving dismissal of a RICO claim by the court in Professional Assets Management v. 

Penn Square Bank, 616 F. Supp. 1418, 1421-22 (W.D. Okla. 1985), where multiple wire 

and telephone communications were made in furtherance of a single scheme and were 

merely "constituents of a single, unified activity"). 

 The Indictment must be dismissed. 

D. The "racketeering activities" must be only those offenses set forth in 

18 U.S.C. 1961 (1). 

 

 Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1961 (1)(A), a racketeering activity means any act of 

gambling, et al, which is chargeable under State law and punishable by imprisonment for 

more than one (1) year.  Here, however, the Indictment incorrectly names as predicate 

offenses or "racketeering activities," three statutes under New York, Illinois and Missouri 

law that are not racketeering activities as set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 1961 (1)(A).  

Accordingly, the aforementioned statutes must be stricken from the Indictment.   

 First, the Indictment alleges the Enterprise committed predicate offenses in 

violation of N.Y. CLS Gen. Oblig. § 849.25.  However, this statute is a civil statute under 

Title 4, dealing with contractual obligations.  Thus, this statute does not codify a criminal 

offense which is punishable by a term of imprisonment of more than one (1) year and 

cannot constitute a predicate act within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1961.   
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 Second, the Illinois statute named in the Indictment, 720 Ill. Comp. Stat. § 5/28-1 

(c), is a misdemeanor, and thus, is not punishable by a term of imprisonment of more 

than one (1) year and cannot constitute a predicate act under 18 U.S.C. § 1961 (A).   

 Third, the Indictment alleges the Kaplan Gambling Enterprise committed acts in 

violation of Missouri laws, specifically, Mo. Rev. Stat. §§ 572.020 (Gambling) and 

572.030 (promoting gambling in the 1
st
 degree).  However, pursuant to the Chapter 

definitions in the Missouri statute pertaining to gambling crimes, gambling under these 

statutes "does not include any licensed activity."  Mo. Rev. Stat. § 572.010 (4).  

Defendants were licenses to engage in gambling under the laws of Antigua and 

elsewhere.  As the statute specifically exempts "any licensed activity" from the definition 

of gambling, the Defendants' actions are not in violation of the Missouri laws named in 

the Indictment.  Thus, the Court must dismiss Mo. Rev. Stat. §§ 572.020 and 572.030 as 

predicate acts and strike them from the Indictment. 

 Further, Mo. Rev. Stat. § 572.020 is not a "racketeering activity" because it could 

only constitute a misdemeanor offense as applied to the alleged Enterprise and its 

members.  Pursuant to this statute, gambling is a misdemeanor offense, unless committed 

by a professional player.  Further, gambling is defined as occurring when a person 

"stakes or risks something of value upon the outcome of a contest of chance or a future 

contingent event."  Mo. Rev. Stat. § 572.010 (4) (definition of gambling).  The 

Indictment does not allege that any member of the Enterprise staked or risked something 

of value upon the outcome of a contest of chance or a future contingent event.  Moreover, 

the Indictment identifies those who placed bets or wagers as "gamblers" or "bettors," but 

does not name those individuals as members of the Enterprise. 
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 Specifically, in the section of the Indictment entitled "Manner, Method and Means 

of the Racketeering Conspiracy," twelve (12) paragraphs set forth the actions in which 

the Enterprise allegedly participated in the racketeering activities.  (Indict. ¶¶ 24-35).  

Therein, it alleges the Enterprise or its members: 

(1) took wagers from gamblers in the United States and operated web sites 

and telephone gambling services;  

 

(2) targeted United States gamblers by advertising its web sites and telephone 

services; 

 

(3) operated various illegal gambling businesses;  

 

(4) invited, induced, and persuaded United States gamblers to place bets; 

 

(5) delivered print advertising to bettors in the United States; 

 

(6) controlled two entities that were advertised as watchdog agencies; 

 

(7) instructed individuals to send or cause money to the Enterprise; 

 

(8) use wire communications to illegally accept and record wagers; 

 

(9) traveled, communicated and purchased products and services to be 

delivered across State and national borders; 

 

(10) transported gambling equipment; 

 

(11) laundered money; 

 

(12) used United States and private mail services and wire transfer services to 

send money to promote gambling operations. 

 

(Indict. ¶¶ 24-35).   

 None of the above-listed actions constitutes a single act of gambling, i.e., staking 

or risking something of value, by the Enterprise or its members.  Again, any betting or 

wagering referred to in the Indictment is committed by "bettors" or "gamblers," who are 

not themselves named as members of the Enterprise. 
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 None of the above-listed actions alleged any member of the Enterprise 

participated in an act of gambling, much less as a professional player, defined as 

"engaging in gambling as a livelihood or by a person who has derived at least twenty 

percent of his income in any one year within the past five years from acting solely as a 

player."  Mo. Rev. Stat. § 572.010 (9).  No person in the Indictment is described in such a 

manner and especially, not a member of the Enterprise.  Therefore, Section 572.020 as 

applied to the actions allegedly undertaken by the Enterprise would only constitute a 

misdemeanor, which is not punishable by imprisonment for a term of one year or more.  

See Mo. Rev. Stat. § 556.016.  Thus, this statute does not constitute a "racketeering 

activity" pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1961 (1)(A).   

E. The "racketeering activities" must have been committed by the 

defendants. 

 

 The Indictment names one state law as a "racketeering activity" pursuant to 18 

U.S.C. 1961 (1)(A), which does not by its language apply to the actions of the Enterprise 

or its members.  Thus, these statutes should be dismissed as a "racketeering activity" and 

stricken from the Indictment. 

 The Indictment alleges the Enterprise committed a predicate offense of 

"bookmaking," in violation of Flordia's law.  (Indictment, p. 8).  Pursuant to Fla. Stat. 

§ 849.25 (1)(a):   

The term "bookmaking means the act of taking or receiving, while 

engaged in the business or profession of gambling, any bet or wager upon 

the result of any trial or contest of skill, speed, power or endurance of 

human, beast, fowl, motor vehicle, or mechanical apparatus or upon the 

result of any chance, casualty, unknown, or contingent event whatsoever. 

 

Fla. Stat. § 849.25 (1)(a).   
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 "Result" is defined by the American Heritage Dictionary as:  (1) "to come about 

as a consequence" or (2) "to end in a particular way."
1
  Hence, "upon the result" indicates 

that any taking or receiving of a bet or wager after or as a consequence of any trial or 

contest, etc., would constitute a "bookmaking" under the statute. 

 However, the Indictment does not allege any actions wherein the Enterprise 

accepted bets or wagers after any contests or events.  Specifically, the Indictment alleges 

the Enterprise allegedly "instructed individuals in the United States to send, or cause 

money to be sent to the Enterprise, for the purpose of opening one or more gambling 

accounts.  (Indict. ¶ 30).  This would suggest the Enterprise was requiring bettors to 

establish accounts with the Enterprise before placing any bets or wagers.  Logically, any 

bets or wagers were to be placed prior to the result of any contests or events.  The 

Enterprise, as the Indictment alleges, did not take or receive any bets or wagers after or 

"upon the result" of any contest or event.  Thus, the actions of the Enterprise as alleged 

are not actionable under the language of Fla. Stat. Ch. 849.25.  Accordingly, this Court 

must dismiss this statute as a racketeering activity and strike it from the Indictment. 

II. THE ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF STATE AND FEDERAL LAW 

WHICH FORM THE BASIS OF THE PURPORTED "RACKETEERING 

ACTIVITY" SUFFFER FROM SEVERAL DEFICIENCIES. 

 

A. Federal Law does not prohibit casino-type Internet gaming.   

 In its Indictment, the Government alleges that one of the objectives of the 

purported enterprise was to "maximize[e] the number of individuals residing in the 

United States who opened wagering accounts and gambled on casino-type games offered 

on Enterprise-controlled Internet web sites."  (Indict. ¶ 20).  The Government also alleges 

                                                 
1
 "Result."  The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language, Fourth Edition.  Houghton Mifflin 

Company, 2004.  Answers.com 13 Dec. 2006. http://www.answers.com/topic/result. 
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that the Enterprise "concealed the fact that the multiple web sites and telephone services 

through which it offered sports and casino style gambling were all owned and operated 

by the Enterprise."  (Indict. ¶ 27).  Furthermore, the Government alleged that 

BETonSPORTS.com ("BoS") "offered illegal Internet and telephone service gambling 

through sportsbooks, an online casino, and 'proposition' bets[]" and concluded that "[a]ll 

wagering originating in the United States which occurred on Enterprise web sites and 

telephone services was illegal under federal law."  (Indict. § 24).  As such, the instant 

Indictment is clearly aimed at casino-type Internet gambling in addition to sports-related 

gambling. 

 Casino-style Internet gaming, however, is perfectly legal and is not specifically 

prohibited by any federal statute.  In fact, the Wire Wager Act (18 U.S.C. § 1084), the 

one federal statute that could presumably be used to criminalize Internet gambling, does 

not prohibit casino-type Internet games.  On point is the case of In re:  Mastercard 

International, Inc. Internet Gambling Litigation, 132 F. Supp.2d 468 (E.D. La. 2001).  In 

Mastercard, several class actions were filed and were later joined in a Multi-District 

Litigation proceeding where plaintiffs alleged that the defendant credit card companies 

were illegally involved in the Internet gambling industry.  Id. at 473.  The plaintiffs were 

indebted to the credit card companies as a result of using their credit card to play Internet 

casinos.  Id. at 474.  The plaintiffs contended that because the credit card companies 

processed the payment knowing of the alleged illegal nature of the payment, the 

defendants violated several federal and state laws.  Id.  In its motion to dismiss, the 

defendants argued that plaintiffs failed to allege that their Wire Act claims consisted of 

sports gambling.  Id. at 480.  The court dismissed the claims reasoning that the plain 
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language required that the "gambling activity [be] related to a 'sporting event or contest.'"  

Id.  The court further reasoned that the plain language was clear because of recent 

legislative attempts to broaden the Wire Wager Act beyond sports-related gambling.  Id. 

 The relevant language of the Wire Wager Act is as follows: 

Whoever being engaged in the business of betting or wagering knowingly 

uses a wire communication facility for the transmission in interstate or 

foreign commerce of bets or wagers or information assisting in the placing 

of bets or wagers on any sporting event or contest, or for the transmission 

of a wire communication which entitles the recipient to receive money or 

credit as a result of bets or wagers, or for information assisting in the 

placing of bets or wagers, shall be fined . . . or imprisoned not more than 

two years, or both. 

 

18 U.S.C. § 1984 (a) (emphasis added).  The plain language of the Wire Wager Act only 

applies to "any sporting event or contest"; there is no prohibition on casino-type Internet 

gaming.  Indeed, the Fifth Circuit in Mastercard, agreed with and affirmed the district 

court's interpretation of the Wire Wager Act as applying only to sports-type Internet 

gambling.  See, e.g., In re Mastercard International, Inc., Internet Gambling Litigation, 

313 F.3d 257, 262-263 (5
th

 Cir. 2002)("The district court concluded that the Wire Act 

concerns gambling on sporting events or contests and that the Plaintiffs had failed to 

allege that they had engaged in sports gambling.  We agree with the district court's 

statutory interpretation, its reading of relevant case law, its summary of the relevant 

legislative history, and its conclusion.  The plaintiffs may not rely on the Wire Act as a 

predicate [RICO] offense here.").   

Here, the Government's Indictment is clearly aimed at both sports-related and 

casino-type Internet gaming.  But because there is no federal law prohibiting casino-type 

gaming, the Government's Indictment is defective as a matter of law and therefore, must 

be dismissed. 
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B. The alleged state law violations and 18 U.S.C. § 1955 cannot constitute 

"racketeering activities" because they have no application to legal 

conduct that occurs outside its own borders. 

 

 In its Indictment, the Government identifies various state statutes from Missouri, 

Florida, New York, New Jersey, Washington and Illinois to serve as the basis for 

"racketeering activity" based on violations of state law.  A violation of any of the above 

statutes is also required to show a violation of the Illegal Gambling Business Act, 18 

U.S.C. § 1955.  Section 1955 requires a violation of an underlying state law in that the 

illegal gambling business must violate the penal law of a State or political subdivision.  

18 U.S.C. § 1955 (b).  The above state statutes and Section 1955, however, cannot serve 

as the basis for any "racketeering activity" because state laws cannot be applied 

extraterritorially to legal conduct located outside its borders. 

 The Fifth Circuit case of United States v. Truesdale, 152 F.3d 443 (5
th

 Cir. 1998) 

illustrates this point in circumstances similar to the instant case.  In Truesdale, defendants 

were charged with operating an illegal gambling business.  The business involved a 

sports wagering enterprise which accepted bets in the Caribbean, but conducted some of 

the financial transactions in Texas.  Id. at 444.  The defendants were also charged with 

conspiracy, money laundering, travel in aid of racketeering and other counts related to 

their alleged illegal bookmaking operation.  Id.  The defendants were convicted of all 

counts.  Id. 

 The defendants operated a wagering service called World Sportsbook ("WSB").  

The WSB maintained offices in Jamaica and the Dominican Republic, as well as Dallas, 

Texas.  Id.  It maintained these offices so bettors in the United States could place bets on 

sporting events without running afoul of domestic gambling laws.  Id.  The defendants 
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obtained licenses from the Dominican Republic and Jamaica for the purpose of accepting 

international phone bets.  Id.  Bettors in the United States could place bets at these 

foreign locations through the use of toll-free telephone numbers.  Id.  Some of the 

numbers terminated in the Dallas area, while other terminated in the offshore locations.  

Id.  However, the numbers that terminated in the Dallas area were information only lines 

and were not used to accept bets.  Id.  A potential bettor would call these the information 

only lines to obtain information on how the operation worked.  Id.  The operation then 

sent a packet to them providing information on a variety of things, including, but not 

limited to, how to open an account.  Id.  The bettor would then wire money via Western 

Union or send it by Federal Express to open a wagering account.  Id. 

 On appeal, the defendants challenged the sufficiency of the evidence with respect 

to their conviction under Count Two, which charged the defendants with operating an 

illegal gambling business in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1955.  Id. at 446.  The Government 

used a Texas law on bookmaking as the predicate state offense for the Section 1955 

violation.  Id.  The defendants argued that there was insufficient evidence because their 

bookmaking business occurred in Jamaica and the Dominican Republic.  Id. at 447.  The 

Government, on the other hand, argued that the operation conducted financial 

transactions related to the operation in Texas, and that as a result, the jury could have 

properly inferred that the bookmaking operation took place there.  Id.   

 The Fifth Circuit overturned the defendants' convictions.  Id. at 449.  The court 

reasoned that a violation of Section 1955 requires that the illegal gambling activity 

"violate the law of the state where it is conducted."  Id. at 447.  Because there was no 

evidence that the organization accepted bets in Texas, the conduct did not violate Texas 
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law.  Id.  The court further rejected the argument that absent direct evidence that bets 

were accepted in Texas, an inference could be drawn that such bets were accepted 

because two of the toll-free lines terminated in Dallas area.  The court reasoned as 

follows: 

Jones and his co-appellants went to great effort to make sure that their 

operation was legal.  They set up offshore offices and consulted with 

lawyers in the United States and abroad on the legality of their enterprise; 

they furnished the Caribbean local offices with desks and telephones and 

staffed them with personnel to accept international phone wagers; they set 

up separate phone lines that could be used to place bets in the offshore 

offices.  Under these circumstances, without specific evidence of any 

wrongdoing, it is irrational to conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that 

after having gone through the effort of fully equipping, staffing, and 

widely advertising the Caribbean offices, the appellants nevertheless 

illegally accepted bets in the United States. 

 

Id. at 448.   

Here, as in Truesdale, no bets for sports or casino-related gambling were accepted 

in the United States.  Any such bets were accepted in Costa Rica and Antigua, where 

gambling activity is legal and licensed.  Furthermore, the offshore operations were not a 

sham as BoS, like WSB, had fully staffed offices in both places.  Most importantly, 

however, Truesdale, embodies the venerable principle that a state cannot apply its laws 

beyond its borders to punish a defendant for activity that was lawful in the place where it 

was conducted.  See State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co. v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408, 

421 (2003).  See also New York Life Ins. Co. v. Head, 234 U.S. 149, 161 (1914)("[I]t 

would be impossible to permit the statutes of Missouri to operate beyond the jurisdiction 

of that State . . . without throwing down the constitutional barriers by which all the States 

are restricted within the orbits of their lawful authority and upon the preservation of 

which the Government under the Constitution depends."); Huntington v. Attrill, 146 U.S. 
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657, 669 (1892)("Laws have no force of themselves beyond the jurisdiction of the State 

which enacts them, . . . ."); American Fire Ins. Co. v. King Lumber & Mfg. Co., 77 So. 

168, 172 (Fla. 1917)("Neither the Legislature nor the courts of Florida could extend the 

operations of its statutes beyond its borders, . . ."); Rawstorne v. Maguire, 192 N.E. 294, 

295 (N.Y. 1934)("sovereignty of state extends only so far as its territorial boundaries"); 

Rowe v. Hoffman-LaRoche Inc., 892 A.2d 694, 706 (N.J. Super. 2006)("state laws 

normally do not operate outside their boundaries.").   

The Government cannot rely on the alleged state law violations and Section 1955 

as it would constitute an illegal extraterritorial application of state law to conduct beyond 

said states' borders.  Thus, the state law predicates and 18 U.S.C. § 1955 must be 

dismissed from the instant Indictment. 

III. THE GOVERNMENT CANNOT RELY ON DEFENDANTS' ACTIONS IN 

ADVERTISING THE ENTERPRISE TO SATISFY ANY OVERT ACT 

BECAUSE SUCH ACTIONS ARE PROTECTED COMMERCIAL 

SPEECH UNDER THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES 

CONSTITUTION. 

  

 In its Indictment, the Government asserts a number of acts, which it describes as 

"overt acts" in furtherance of the alleged conspiracy.  For example, the Government 

alleges that the Enterprise "caused fraudulent radio advertisements to be broadcast by 

radio stations across the country."  (Indict. ¶ 36 (12)).  It further alleges that the 

Enterprise "arranged for the telecast of a fraudulent television advertisement stating that 

its gambling telephone services and web sites were 'legal and licensed.'"  (Indict. ¶ 36 

(13)).  Such conduct, however, cannot constitute an "overt act" because such actions are 

protected commercial speech under the First Amendment to the United States 

Constitution. 
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 The Supreme Court case of Greater New Orleans Broadcasting Association, Inc. 

v. United States, 527 U.S. 173 (1999) illustrates this very point.  In Greater New Orleans 

Broadcasting, the Court addressed the issue of whether petitioners could broadcast 

promotional advertisements for gaming at for-profit casinos that were legal in Louisiana 

and Mississippi.  At issue was whether 18 U.S.C. § 1304 and the FCC's accompanying 

regulations violated the First Amendment.  Section 1304 prohibited radio and television 

advertising of 

Any advertisement of or information concerning any lottery, gift 

enterprise, or similar scheme, offering prizes dependent in whole or in part 

upon lot or chance, or any list of the prizes drawn or awarded by means of 

any such lottery, gift enterprise, or scheme, whether said list contains part 

or all of such prizes. 

 

18 U.S.C. § 1304. 

 A divided panel of the Fifth Circuit affirmed the grant of summary judgment in 

favor of the Government.  Id. at 181.  The Supreme Court, however, reversed the Fifth 

Circuit and found that such advertisements were protected commercial speech under the 

First Amendment.  Id. at 195-196.  In reaching its conclusion, the Court applied the four-

part test for resolving First Amendment challenges that was established in Central 

Hudson Bas & Elec. Corp. v. Public Serv. Comm'n of N. Y., 447 U.S. 557 (1980).  The 

first part of the test is whether the expression is protected by the First Amendment, and 

for it to be protected it must concern lawful activity and not be misleading.  The court 

concluded that this prong had been satisfied because the content was not misleading and 

it concerned lawful activities, i.e., private casino gambling in Louisiana and Mississippi.  

Id. at 184.   
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 The second prong was whether the asserted governmental interest served by the 

speech restriction was substantial.  Id. at 185.  The government identified two such 

interests:  (1) reducing the social costs associated with "gambling" and (2) assisting 

States that restrict gambling or prohibit casino gambling.  Id.  The court admitted that the 

interest may have been substantial but that the Government did not have a uniform 

national policy with respect to gambling to justify such an interest.  Id. at 187.  The Court 

noted that "[d]espite its awareness of the potential social costs, Congress has not only 

sanctioned casino gambling for Indian tribes . . . , but has enacted other statutes that 

reflect approval of state legislation that authorizes a host of public and private gambling 

activities."  Id.  The Court concluded that it reflected a decision on the part of Congress 

"to defer to, and even promote, differing gambling policies in different States."  Id.   

 The Court next examined the third prong which inquires into whether the speech 

restriction directly and materially advanced the asserted governmental interest.  Id. at 

188.  The Court noted that the burden could not be satisfied "by mere speculation or 

conjecture."  Id.  Rather, it had to demonstrate that any harms was indeed real and that 

the restriction would alleviate it "to a material degree."  Id.  As to the fourth prong, the 

Court was required to inquire as to "whether the speech restriction [was] not more 

extensive than necessary to serve the interests that support it."  Id. 

 Taking into account all of the factors, the Court concluded that Section 1304 

could not satisfy these standards, and as such, it could not withstand scrutiny under the 

First Amendment.  The Court particularly attacked the Government's asserted interest of 

"alleviating the social costs of casino gambling."  The Government argued that 

advertising increases demand for gambling, which in turn, increases the amount of casino 
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gambling that produces those social costs.  Id. at 189.  The Court, however, questioned 

whether the speech prohibition furthered the asserted interest, as it noted that advertising 

"would merely channel gamblers from one casino to another."  Id.  It also stated the 

following in support of its reasoning: 

More important, any measure of the effectiveness of the Government's 

attempt to minimize the social costs of gambling cannot ignore 
Congress' simultaneous encouragement of tribal casino gambling, 

which may well be growing at a rate exceeding any increase in gambling 

or compulsive gambling that private casino advertising could produce.   

 

Id. (emphasis added).  According to the Court, the government's regulatory regime "[was] 

so pierced by exemptions and inconsistencies that the Government cannot hope to 

exonerate it."  Id. at 190.  The Court furthermore attacked the validity of the 

Government's other purported interest, i.e., "assisting States with policies that disfavor 

private casinos."  Id. at 194.  As the Court so aptly pointed out, the proposed regulatory 

regime could not "further any state interest in dampening consumer demand for casino 

gambling if it cannot achieve the same goal with respect to the similar federal interest."  

Id. at 194. 

 Although not precisely on point, the instant prosecution and the Government's 

willingness to prosecute Internet gambling crimes serve as a chilling effect on advertising 

for such activities.  As the Court pointed out, "the power to prohibit or to regulate 

particular conduct does not necessarily include the power to prohibit or regulate speech 

about that conduct."  Id. at 193 (citing 44 Liquormart, Inc. v. Rhode Island, 517 U.S. 484, 

509-511 (1996)).  Here, the advertising in the instant case is protected commercial speech 

because it concerned lawful activities, i.e., the promotion of BoS' gambling websites 

which were legal in Antigua and Costa Rica where they were conducted.  This is similar 
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to Greater New Orleans Broadcasting where the proposed television advertisements 

concerned promotions for casino gambling in Louisiana and Mississippi where it was 

also legal.  Any argument that such advertising could find its way into states which 

prohibited such gambling does not alter the analysis.  The Court in Greater New Orleans 

Broadcasting noted that broadcasts from Louisiana could be heard in neighboring states 

such as Texas and Arkansas where such gambling was illegal.  Id. at 180. 

 As to the Government's contention that such ads were misleading, that too falls 

flat on its face.  The advertisements stated that it was "legal and licensed," and BoS was, 

in fact, legal and fully licensed where it was incorporated and where it had its principal 

place of business.  There was nothing deceptive about BoS's advertising. 

 Thus, BoS' advertising about its gambling operations, at least, prima facie 

qualifies as commercial speech.  But, as Greater New Orleans Broadcasting made clear 

any purported justification by the Government to restrict such speech is severely 

hampered by the fact that the United States has failed to advance a uniform policy 

regarding gambling.  Thus, the decision to promote some forms of gambling and prohibit 

others appears arbitrary on its face.  As the Court stated in Greater New Orleans 

Broadcasting, "decisions that select among speakers conveying virtually identical 

messages are in serious tension with the principles under[lying] the First Amendment."  

Id. at 194. 

 The Government cannot use Defendants' actions in promoting and advertising 

BoS's gambling operations as "overt acts" to prove the alleged conspiracy against 

Defendants.  Such speech is commercial speech protected by the First Amendment, and 

as such, any such alleged "overt act" must be dismissed from the Indictment. 
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IV. THE GOVERNMENT'S INTERPRETATION AND APPLICATION OF 

FEDERAL STATUTES TO INTERNET GAMBLING VIOLATES THE 

UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND CUSTOMARY 

INTERNATIONAL LAW PRINCIPLES REGARDING JURISDICTION 

TO PRESCRIBE. 

 

A. The exercise of jurisdiction in this case against Defendant violates the 

Fifth Amendment Due Process Clause. 

 

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment limits the extra-territorial 

reach of state law.  See Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Shutts, 472 U.S. 797, 806-814 (1985).  

Likewise, the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment should serve the same 

function with respect to the extra-territorial reach of federal legislation.  See United 

States v. Aluminum Co. of America, 148 F.2d 416 (2
nd

 Cir. 1945)(regarding 

extraterritorial application of law, "[T]he only question open is whether Congress had the 

intent to impose liability, and whether our own Constitution permitted it to do so . . . ."). 

The heart of the Due Process protection is notice to the Defendant that his conduct 

could result in criminal liability.  Here, the Government is trying to apply an American 

criminal statute to a foreign national for conduct that was lawful in that country.  This 

obviously raises due process concerns regarding notice to the defendant.  For example, a 

Defendant who operates his/her business in compliance with the laws of the country 

where it is incorporated and where its principal place of operations are located, it should 

not reasonably expect to be subject to the laws of another country in this regard.  The 

United States Supreme Court has never squarely addressed whether the Fifth Amendment 

Due Process Clause applies in such a circumstance, but the argument has been raised in 

other federal courts, although not decided on such grounds.  See, e.g.,  United States v. 

Henriquez, 731 F.2d 131, 134 n.5 (2
nd

 Cir. 1984)("It is also argued that 21 U.S.C. § 955a 

(a) as applied [possession of marijuana with intent to distribute by Columbian nationals 
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aboard a non-American vessel in international waters] violates the notice requirement of 

the due process clause of the Fifth Amendment.  [citation omitted].  The argument is 

based not only on the claim that the statute is unprecedented in international law and the 

proposition that marijuana trafficking itself is not universally condemned, but also on the 

alleged vagueness of the definition of 'vessel without nationality' in 21 U.S.C. 955b (d) . . 

. .").   

Here, Defendant arguably lacked proper notice that his conduct would run afoul 

of federal criminal laws.  First, the federal statutes at issue do not even mention or 

reference Internet gambling.  Second, there was no reason to believe that such laws could 

be applied extraterritorially to cover conduct that took place outside the United States and 

was legal where it was conducted.  Internet gambling is not universally or even 

predominantly condemned as many countries legalize and regulate such activity.  In fact, 

the United States and the 50 States permit all sorts of gambling from horse racing and 

lotteries to casino gaming.  In light of the above, it stretches credibility to believe that 

Defendant had sufficient notice that his activities and the activities of the company he 

managed (BoS), which were located entirely outside the United States, could run afoul of 

U.S. criminal laws.  The Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment should thus be 

applied to prevent the extraterritorial reach of the alleged statutory violations in the 

instant case. 

 

B. The exercise of jurisdiction in this case violates well-established 

customary international law principles regarding the scope and reach 

of extra-territorial legislation. 

 

 The Government's prosecution in the instant case readily presumes that RICO and 

the Wire Wager Act can be applied extraterritorially to reach Defendant's conduct, even 
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though Internet gambling was legal in BoS' place of incorporation, the United Kingdom 

and principal places of operation, Costa Rica and Antigua.  The language of both the 

RICO and the Wire Wager Act seek to apply to activities in interstate or foreign 

commerce.  So, at first blush, it would appear that the above statutes have extraterritorial 

reach.  However, the analysis does not end there.  Federal statutes are to be construed 

consistent with the Charming Betsy canon, which is a principle that requires courts to 

construe laws as consistent with international law whenever possible.  See Murray v. 

Schooner Charming Betsy, 2 Cranch 64 (1804).  See also Hartford Fire Ins. Co. v. 

California, 509 U.S. 764, 814-815 (1993)("an act of Congress ought never be construed 

to violate the law of nations if any other possible construction remains."); Corus Stall BV 

v. Dept. of Commerce, 395 F.3d 1343, 1347 (Fed. Cir. 2005)(under Charming Betsy 

doctrine, courts should interpret federal law consistent with international obligations). 

 Here, the Government's application of the RICO and Wire Wager Acts to Internet 

Gambling activities that were legal where they were conducted runs afoul of well-

established customary international law principles regarding a State's jurisdiction to 

prescribe certain conduct.  Customary international law consists of "a general and 

consistent practice of states followed by them from a sense of legal obligation."  Buell v. 

Mitchell, 274 F.3d 337, 372 (6
th

 Cir. 2001).  Customary international law is binding on 

federal courts as part of federal common law.  See Kane v. Winn, 319 F. Supp.2d 162, 

199 (D. Mass. 2004).  See also Filartiga v. Pena-Irala, 630 F.2d 876, 885-887 (2
nd

 Cir. 

1980)("[T]he law of nations . . . has always been a part of the federal common law."). 

 Customary international law recognizes six bases of jurisdiction to prescribe 

conduct.  They are:  (1) the subjective territorial principle; (2) the objective territorial 
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principle; (3) the nationality principle; (4) the protective principle; (5) the universal 

principle; and (6) the passive personality principle.
2
  RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF THE 

FOREIGN RELATIONS OF THE UNITED STATES, § 402.  Here, the Government seeks to 

impose its laws against foreign citizens and corporations for conduct which occurred and 

transpired outside the United States, solely because it was directed at U.S. citizens.  Thus, 

the Government seeks to justify its application of the RICO and Wire Wager Acts on the 

basis of passive personality.  The passive personality principle is the notion that a state 

can exercise jurisdiction on the basis of the nationality of the victim.  Id.   

 Relying on the passive personality principle, however, as a basis of jurisdiction is 

not recognized under customary international law.  For example, the first Restatement of 

the Foreign Relations Law of the United States took the position that customary 

international law did not recognize passive personality as a basis of jurisdiction.  See 

RESTATEMENT (FIRST) OF THE FOREIGN RELATIONS OF THE UNITED STATES, § 25 (1949).  

The second Restatement provision adhered to the same position.  See, e.g., RESTATEMENT 

(SECOND) OF THE FOREIGN RELATIONS OF THE UNITED STATES, § 30 (2) (1965)("A state 

does not have jurisdiction to prescribe a rule of law attaching legal consequences to the 

                                                 
2
 Territorial jurisdiction is based on the place where the offense is committed.  This basis does not apply 

because the operative acts of receiving bets and transmitting information to U.S. Citizens took place outside 

of the United States.  The nationality principle applies where jurisdiction is based on the nationality of the 

offender.  This, too, does not apply to Defendant Carruthers as he is a British national.  The universal 

principle permits a state to exercise jurisdiction over certain crimes due to the grievous nature of the 

offense, such as genocide.  That principle obviously has no application here as well.  See RESTATEMENT 

(THIRD) OF THE FOREIGN RELATIONS OF THE UNITED STATES, § 402 cmt. a.  The protective principle 

permits a state to assert jurisdiction over foreigners for an act committed outside the United States that 

impacts national security.  The objective territoriality principle permits a state to exercise jurisdiction over 

acts performed outside the United States if it produces detrimental effects within the United States.  Id.  

While this basis of jurisdiction would seem to be applicable, it does not apply here because gambling is a 

victimless crime that only results in economic loss.  This principle is typically only applied where fraud is 

involved.  See Michael P. Scharf, "On Dangerous Ground:  Passive Personality Jurisdiction and the 

Prohibition of Internet Gambling," 8 NEW ENG. JOURNAL OF INT'L & COMP. LAW 19 (2002).  In the instant 

case, there is no fraud involved as BoS advertised itself as a licensed and legal entity, which was the case as 

it had received its license in the jurisdictions where it was operating. 
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conduct of an alien outside its territory merely on the ground that the conduct affects one 

of its nationals."  Customary international law has only recently permitted the exercise of 

passive personality jurisdiction, but only in the context of terrorism.  See, e.g., 

RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF THE FOREIGN RELATIONS OF THE UNITED STATES, § 402 (3) 

(1987)("[S]ubject to [certain limitations] a state has jurisdiction to prescribe law with 

respect to certain conduct outside its territory by persons not its nationals that is directed 

against the security of the state or against a limited class of other state interests.").   

 Consistent with this customary international law principle, the United States has 

traditionally opposed application of the principle, especially where one of its citizens is 

involved.  For example, in the Cutting case in 1887, a Mexican court convicted a U.S. 

national for libel for allegations appearing in a U.S. newspaper that harmed a Mexican 

citizen.  See Geoffrey R. Watson, "The Passive Personality Principle," 28 TEX. INT'L L. 

JOURNAL 1, 2 (1993).  The conviction was based on "a Mexican law establishing 

jurisdiction over '[p]enal offenses committed in a foreign country . . . by a foreigner 

against Mexicans.'"  Id.  The United States protested the Mexican criminal proceedings 

and demanded its citizen's immediate release, arguing that Mexico's exercise of 

jurisdiction was "wholly inadmissible[.]"  Id.  The State Department later elaborated on 

its position arguing that "international law did not permit a state to prosecute a crime 

simply because the victim was one of its nationals."  Id.  The United States consistently 

reiterated this position, most notably in the context of defending its citizens who have 

been accused of violating hate speech laws in European countries.  The French 

prosecution of Yahoo and threatened German prosecution of Compuserve for permitting 

the posting of Nazi memorabilia on the web is an example.  The United States defended 
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its national companies on the grounds that such speech is protected by the First 

Amendment.  See generally, Credence Fogo-Schensul, "More Than a River in Egypt:  

Holocaust Denial, the Internet, and International Freedom of Expression Norms," 33 

GONZ. L. REV. 241, (1997-98). 

 The Government now seeks to impose its laws on Internet gambling to foreign 

nationals and corporations despite the fact that the conduct alleged in the Indictment was 

legal where it was conducted, i.e., Costa Rica and Antigua.  The danger in permitting the 

exercise of jurisdiction in this case was best summed up by the United States in the 

Cutting case, where the State Department noted that the exercise of such jurisdiction 

would subject people acting within their own countries to infinite criminal responsibility 

pursuant to the penal laws of every nation on the planet.  See Watson article, supra, at p. 

5.  Here, the exercise of jurisdiction in this case constitutes the height of hypocrisy, but 

more importantly it violates well-established principles of customary international law, 

which the United States strictly adheres to in its own relations with other countries. 

 The Court should refuse to exercise jurisdiction in the instant case.   

V. THE INDICTMENT MUST BE DISMISSED BECAUSE THE INSTANT 

PROSECUTION VIOLATES THE UNITED STATES' TREATY 

OBLIGATIONS. 

 

A. This Court Lacks Jurisdiction Over Defendant Carruthers Because 

He Was Wrongfully Arrested in Violation of the Obligations Owed to 

the United Kingdom under the 1815 Convention on Commerce and 

Navigation. 

 

 Defendant Carruthers was arrested while en route from London to Costa Rica, 

where the business operations of BoS were located.  Mr. Carruthers was arrested while 

his plane had a layover in Dallas, Texas.  He was subsequently brought to this district to 

stand trial pursuant to the instant Indictment.   
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 His arrest, however, violates the free movement of peoples and goods that the 

1815 Treaty between the United States and the United Kingdom is designed to ensure.  

Article 1 of the 1815 Convention states as follows: 

The inhabitants of the two countries, respectively, shall have liberty freely 

and securely to come with their ships and cargoes to all such places, ports, 

and rivers, in the territories aforesaid, to which other foreigners are 

permitted to come, to enter into the same, and to remain and reside in any 

parts of the said territories, respectively; also to hire and occupy houses 

and warehouses for the purposes of their commerce; and, generally, the 

merchants and traders of each nation, respectively, shall enjoy the most 

complete protection security for their commerce, but subject always to the 

laws and statutes of the two countries, respectively. 

 

July 3, 1815, 8 Stat. 228, T.S. No. 110. 

 The Treaty clearly provides for the free passage of the citizens between the two 

countries for the purpose of furthering their commerce.  Mr. Carruthers was arrested 

while en route to Costa Rica for business purposes with respect to BoS.  That free 

passage was interfered with when Mr. Carruthers was arrested during his layover in 

Dallas, Texas.   

As to the requirement that the above rights are "subject [] to the laws and statutes 

of the two countries," Mr. Carruthers passage through the United States was not in 

violation of any U.S. law.  He was traveling to his place of business which was fully 

licensed and legal in Costa Rica.  As such, his passage through the country should have 

been allowed, and his arrest was therefore in violation of the United States' obligations 

owed to Mr. Carruthers and the United Kingdom (because he is a British national) under 

the treaty.
3
 

                                                 
3
 Furthermore, the exercise of jurisdiction in the instant case clearly offends basic notions of justice and 

fairness as Mr. Carruthers had never set foot in or traveled through the Eastern District of Missouri prior to 

his being brought to the district to be arraigned. 
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B. The Indictment Violates the United States' Treaty Obligations Owed 

as a Member of the World Trade Organization. 

 

1. The WTO Treaty. 

 On January 1, 1995, the United States became party to a treaty establishing the 

World Trade Organization ("WTO").  Costa Rica and Antigua are also parties.  The WTO 

adopted the General Agreement on Trade in Services ("GATS").  The WTO and GATS 

obligate its parties to not take any measures that will prohibit or affect the cross-border 

supply of services to, from or between parties. 

 Part 1, Article 1, of the GATS applies to "measures by Members affecting trade in 

services" and provides: 

(2) For the purpose of this Agreement, trade in services is defined as the 

supply of a service: 

 

(a) from the territory of one Member to the territory of any other 

Member; 

 

(b) in the territory of one Member to the service consumer of any other 

Member; 

 

(c) by a service supplier of one Member, through commercial presence 

in the territory of any other Member; 

 

 The GATS defines "measures by Members" as measures taken by central, 

regional or local governments and authorities.  "Services include any service in any 

sector except services supplied in the exercise of governmental authority." 

 Article XVI of the GATS is contained in Part III under "Specific Commitments."  

It provides: 

(1)  With respect to market access through the modes of supply identified 

in Article I, each Member shall accord services and service suppliers of 

any other Member treatment no less favorable than that provided for under 

the terms, limitations and conditions agreed and specified in this Schedule. 
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(2)  In sectors where market access commitments are undertaken, the 

measures which a member shall not maintain or adopt either on the basis 

of a regional subdivision or on the basis of its entire territory, unless 

otherwise specified in its Schedule, are defined as: 

 

(a)  limitations on the number of service suppliers whether in the 

form of numerical quotes, monopolies, exclusive service suppliers 

or the requirements of an economic needs test; 

 

2. Conflict with the Treaty. 

 The cross-border supply of gambling and betting services from Costa Rica to 

consumers in the United States is a "Service" which the United States committed not to 

prohibit or affect pursuant to their treaty obligations in the WTO and GATS.  The 

application of these criminal statutes is unquestionably "a measure by [a] Member" as 

this is a measure taken by the central United States Government and its authorities.  The 

application of the criminal statutes to the cross-border supplying of gambling and betting 

services is a measure which totally prohibits the very conduct which the Government has 

by treaty agreed to support.  The direct conflict between the United States treaty 

obligations and this prosecution requires this Court to resolve the issue of the law to 

apply herein. 

3. Resolution of Conflict of Laws. 

 Article VI, Cl.2 of our Constitution provides that the laws of the United States, 

including all treaties made under the authority of the United States, are the supreme law 

of the land.  Treaties have the same legal effect as statutes.  See Whitney v. Robertson, 

124 U.S. 190, 194 (1888).  While statutes, like those being applied in the instant 

prosecution, are of equal authority, where a conflict exists between that which the 

Government has committed to do in a treaty and that which the Government is, in fact, 

doing, the last expression of the Sovereign controls.  Chae Chen Ping v. United States, 
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130 U.S. 581 (1889).  In Cook v. United States, 288 U.S. 102 (1933), the Court 

concluded: 

The treaty, being later in date than the Act of 1922, superseded, so far as 

the act, the authority which has been conferred by Section 581 upon 

officers of the Coast Guard to search and seize beyond our territorial 

waters. 

 

 The United States ratified the WTO treaty on January 1, 1995, decades after the 

criminal statutes allegedly violated were enacted.  That a criminal prosecution for 

facilitating the cross-border supply of betting and gambling services between WTO 

members is wholly inconsistent with the United States' commitment to not interfere with 

the supply of services from Costa Rica to consumers in the United States is beyond 

dispute.  The most recent pronouncement of the law, the WTO treaty, controls as the law 

of the land. 

4. Recent WTO Dispute Settlement Body Ruling. 

 This very conflict was recently addressed by the WTO (WTO Dispute DS285).  In 

March of 2003, pursuant to the WTO treaty, Antigua requested "consultations" with the 

United States regarding measures, specifically criminal prosecutions and threatened 

criminal prosecutions, applied by authorities in the United States which affected the 

cross-border supply of gambling and betting services operating in Antigua.  Antigua 

alleged that the prosecution of individuals and businesses involved with or supporting 

Internet gambling based in Antigua was a violation of the United States' treaty 

obligations.  Antigua considered that the cumulative impact of the United States' 

measures was to totally prevent the supply of gambling and betting services from one 

WTO member to another on a cross-border bases.  The Antiguan government presented 

evidence to the WTO that it had taken steps since the mid-1990's to build up a primarily 
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Internet based "remote access" gaming industry as part of its economic development 

strategy.  As the cross-border gaming industry in Antigua developed and matured, the 

Government of Antigua licensed their gaming industry.  Antigua submitted to the WTO 

information that it had 19 licensed operators employing over 3,000 people and 

accounting for approximately 10% of the gross-national product of the country in 1999.  

By 2003, the number of operators had declined to 28, employing fewer than 500 people.  

The Antiguan government alleged that a material factor in the decline of the industry was 

the increasingly aggressive strategy on the part of the United States to impede the 

operation of cross-border gaming activities in Antigua through criminal prosecutions like 

this one.  The dispute was submitted to the WTO pursuant to their "Dispute Resolution 

Procedures."   

 Antigua claimed that one or more U.S. measures are inconsistent with the WTO 

treaty obligations.  Among them, a letter dated June 11, 2003, sent by the United States 

Department of Justice to the National Association of Broadcasters explaining the 

illegality of cross-border remote access gambling.  The Government advised in that 

correspondence that the Wire Act prohibits gambling businesses to knowingly receive or 

send certain type of bets and information that assisted in placing bets over inter-state and 

international wires.  Antigua also pointed out that the Travel Act imposes criminal 

penalties for those utilizing interstate or foreign commerce with the intent to distribute 

the proceeds of any unlawful activity.  Also, the Illegal Gambling Business Act makes it 

a federal crime to operate a gambling business which violates the law of the state in 

which the gambling takes place.  Each of these three laws separately prohibits the cross-

border supply of gambling services from Antigua to the United States. 
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 Antigua claimed that the United States had made a full market access 

commitment for the cross-border supply of gambling and betting services pursuant to its 

treaty obligations.  At the same time, the United States took the position that U.S. 

criminal statutes forbid the acceptance of gambling and betting services from outside the 

United States. 

 After hearing presentations by both the United States and Antigua, the WTO 

concluded that the United States criminal laws which are being applied to Internet 

gambling were "measures that affected trade and services" contrary to the WTO's 

agreement.  The WTO panel concluded that the enforcement of these U.S. laws against 

Internet gambling originating in Antigua necessarily affected trade and services within 

the meaning of Article 1, Section 1 of the GATS.  The WTO also concluded that the  

United States had made a market access commitment that would permit cross-border 

Internet gambling.  The WTO panel further concluded that the U.S. criminal laws at issue 

prohibit the cross border supply of gambling and betting services in the United States in a 

manner inconsistent with the treaty obligations of the United States in the GATS.  The 

WTO recommended that the Dispute Settlement Body request that the United States to 

bring the measures that prohibit cross-border "remote access" gambling into conformity 

with its obligations under the GATS treaty. 

 On April 7, 2005, the Appellate Body of the WTO filed its report on the Antigua-

United States dispute.  The Appellate Body of the WTO also concluded that the United 

States had committed to grant full market access to gambling and betting services and 

further upheld the WTO panel's finding that the United States acts inconsistently with 

regard to Article XVI of the GATS which provides for market access.  The limitations 
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being placed on market access by the United States, like prosecutions in the instant case, 

are not specified as an exception in any United States' schedule filed with the WTO.  The 

WTO found the U.S. Government's use of criminal laws to prosecute individuals who are 

involved in Internet based remote access gambling and betting services was a violation of 

the United States' treaty obligations.  At its meeting of April 20, 2005, the WTO Dispute 

Settlement Body adopted both the Appellate Body report and the panel report, as 

modified by the Appellate Body report. 

5. Compliance with the treaty is required. 

 An arbitration regarding U.S. compliance with its treaty obligations was then 

empanelled.  The arbitrator, upon the Unites States' representation and position that new 

laws would have to be enacted to comply with the treaty, concluded (at paragraph 50 of 

the award): 

In my view, the need for prompt compliance means that it is incumbent 

upon the United States to use the flexibility available in its legislative 

process to ensure rapid implementation. 

 

 Ultimately, the arbitrator determined that a reasonable time for the United States 

to implement the recommendation and rulings of the DSB was 11 months and two weeks 

from April 20, 2005.  Compliance was "required" by April 3, 2006.   

6. United States' Compliance. 

 Although outside the arbitrator's compliance date, the United States enacted new 

laws directly dealing with Internet gambling in October, 2006:  31 U.S.C. §§5361; 5362; 

5363; 5364; 5365; 5366 and 5367. 

 It is clear from this legislation that the United States has spoken on the topic of 

Internet gambling.  Although the new federal Internet gambling statutes followed the 
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enactment of the WTO, a treaty will not be deemed to have been abrogated or modified 

by a later statute unless such purpose on the part of Congress has been clearly expressed.  

Transworld Airlines, Inc. v. Franklin Mint Corporation, 465 U.S. 243, 252 (1984).  The 

"Congressional findings and purpose" set forth in § 5361 are a clear expression of 

congressional intention to make Internet gambling illegal regardless of any prior treaty 

obligation.
4
 

 The Government now has criminal statutes directed at Internet gambling with 

which they may prosecute individuals involved in Internet gambling.  These new statutes, 

however, are not those charged in this case and, therefore, do nothing to support the 

Government's position in response to this motion.  To the contrary, the enactment of the 

new Internet gambling laws underscores Defendant's argument in this case that the 

United States cannot use criminal laws to prohibit the cross-border supply of gambling 

services which were enacted before it entered into its commitment to the WTO treaty.  

The enactment of these new criminal laws is a concession by the United States that 

application of existing criminal laws enacted prior to the WTO is problematic for the 

United States.  Because the law at the time of the alleged offense conduct in this case not 

only permitted, but encouraged Internet gambling among and/or through WTO Members, 

the Government cannot now criminally prosecute the Defendant using criminal laws 

which preceded the treaty and with which, were in direct conflict. 

7. The WTO Treaty is Judicially Enforceable. 

                                                 
4
 Whether the new criminal laws, as a later expression of the supreme law of the land continues to be in 

conflict with the treaty obligations and the ramifications thereof are not addressed herein.  Application of 

the October, 2006 legislation in the instant case would be an impermissible ex post factor application as to 

all Defendants. 
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 Recently, the Supreme Court addressed the judicial enforceability of a treaty in 

Hamdan v. Rumsfeld, 1265 S.Ct. 2749 (2006).  The treaty before the Court in Hamdan 

was the Geneva Convention.  Rejecting the United States' argument that Court do not 

have the power to consider the merits of a convention claim, the Court reversed the 

District of Columbia Circuit Court and concluded that Hamdan could invoke the Geneva 

Convention to challenge procedures used by a U.S. Military commission brought 

pursuant to an executive order in his trial. 

 A defendant may not be prosecuted in violation of the terms of a treaty.  United 

States v. Rauscher, 119 U.S. 407 (1886).  That a treaty is enforceable as the law of the 

land was fully considered in the Head-Money cases, Edye v. Roberton, 112 U.S. 580 

(1884), in which the effect of a treaty as a part of the law of the land, as distinguished 

from its aspect as a mere contract between independent nations, was expressed in the 

following language: 

A treaty is primarily a contract between independent nations.  It depends 

for the enforcement of its provisions on the interest and honor of the 

governments which are parties to it.  If these fail, its infraction becomes 

the subject of international negotiations and reclamations, so far as the 

injured party chooses to seek redress, which may in the end be enforced by 

actual war.  It is obvious that with all this the judicial courts have nothing 

to do, and can give no redress.  But a treaty may also contain provisions 

which confer certain rights upon the citizens or subjects of one of the 

nations residing in the territorial limits of the other, which partake of the 

nature of municipal law, and which are capable of enforcement as between 

private parties in the courts of the country. . . .  A treaty, then, is a law of 

the land, as an act of Congress is, whenever its provisions prescribe a rule 

by which the rights of the private citizen or subject may be determined.  

And, when such rights are of a nature to be enforced in a court of justice, 

that court resorts to the treaty for a rule of decision for the case before it as 

it would a statute. 

 

 The WTO treaty, as the law of the land at the time of the alleged conduct herein, 

encouraged and made legitimate the very affairs the government now seeks to 
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criminalize.  The United States could have scheduled Internet gambling services as an 

exception to their treaty obligation.  That they did not and now choose to prosecute the 

Defendants in this case cannot be reconciled.  The treaty established the rights of 

individuals in Costa Rica to extend to individuals in other WTO nations, including the 

United States, Internet remote access wagering and the concurrent rights of U.S. citizens 

to accept those services.  The Government, through this prosecution, denies in practice 

the very rights that the treaty sought to assure.  The treaty must be enforced. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, Defendant Carruthers respectfully requests that the 

Court dismiss the Government's Indictment or parts thereof, and for such other and 

further relief that the Court deems just and proper. 

Dated:  February 2, 2007. 

Respectfully submitted, 

ROSENBLUM, SCHWARTZ, ROGERS & 

GLASS P.C. 

 

 

 

By:  /s/Gilbert C. Sison 

____________________________________ 

 N. Scott Rosenblum #4206 

 Adam Fein, #506332 

 Gilbert C. Sison, #497754 

 120 S. Central Avenue, #130 

 Clayton, Missouri 63105 

 Telephone:  (314) 862-4332 

 Facsimile:  (314) 862-4050 

 gsison@rsrglaw.com 

 

Attorneys for Defendant, David Carruthers 
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